IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2007-TS-01647

FRANK A. POLK

APPELLANT

VS

A.J. JONES AND MARTHA DOUGLAS

APPELLEES

ON APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF FORREST COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

PRINCIPAL BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

Robin L. Roberts, MSB # Paul B. Caston, MSB # Montague, Pittman & Varnado, P.A. P.O. Drawer 1975
Hattiesburg, MS 39403
Tel. 601-544-1234
Fax. 601-544-1276

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

Statement of the Issues

- I. Whether the trial court erred in ordering the subject property sold on the courthouse steps without the Appellant having actual notice of his earlier right to bid on the property?
- II. Whether the trial court erred in failing to join indispensable necessary parties?
- III. Where the lawful beneficiary under the will stood ready willing and able to purchase the property at a price above the appraisal, was the trial court's order of sale on the courthouse steps and abuse of discretion?

Statement of the Case

I. Nature of the Case and Course of Proceedings and Disposition Below

This appeal arises from an action to partition real property owned by three siblings. The siblings are devisees of their parents' homestead through the parents' will. One of the siblings, Jacqueline Polk Jones, died prior to the commencement of the suit. Another of the siblings, Martha Douglas ("Douglas"), died during the pendency of this action in the trial court. Douglas' estate was never made a party in the trial court nor was her estate substituted as a party.

The parents' will guaranteed the siblings a right of first refusal upon 45 days notice, should the property ever be sold. Frank Polk (the Appellant herein and the only surviving sibling) and the deceased siblings' executors could not agree on a sales

appraised and sold to the highest bidding sibling on 14 days notice -- instead of the 45 days notice as dictated by the will. However Frank Polk did not receive notice of this order, though he stood ready to bid at a price above the appraisal. Neither of the executors for the deceased siblings exercised their right to bid for the property. As a result, the lower court ordered the property sold at the courthouse steps.

Shortly before the courthouse sale Frank Polk learned of the lower court's order though an examination of the court file. On the day before the ordered courthouse sale, Frank Polk appeared before the lower court at a motion hearing and attempted to tender the full appraisal price plus ten dollars to purchase the property. The trial court denied the motion and the courthouse sale proceeded. This appeal ensued.

II. Statement of the Facts

The property that is the subject of this dispute was the homestead of E.C. Polk and his wife, Ruth L. Polk (the "Polks"), both deceased. The Polks, through their will, devised the property to their children, Jacqueline Polk Jones, deceased; Martha Douglas, deceased; and Frank Abner Polk. The will provided that each of the children would have a right of first refusal to purchase the property on 45 days notice, if it were ever to be sold.

A.J. Jones was the sole devisee and legatee of Jacqueline Polk Jones, deceased, and appeared in the lower court as plaintiff in his capacity as executor. The estate of Martha Douglas was never substituted as a party to the lower court action, although she passed away on April 12, 2007, during the pendency of this action.

Jacqueline Polk Jones, Martha Polk Douglas and Frank Abner Polk were the sole devisees and legatees of E.C. Polk and Ruth L. Polk and, under the terms of the Polks' will, were to become the owners of the subject property at 730 River Avenue in Hattiesburg, Forrest County, Mississippi.

A.J. Jones and Martha Polk Douglas instituted this action on May 3rd, 2005, in the Chancery Court of Forrest County, against Frank Abner Polk seeking, *inter alia*, a partition by sale of the homestead property. (R.E. at 3; R at 133-150). Through part of the proceedings in the lower court, Frank Polk was represented by attorney Michael Barefield. However, by agreement with Frank Polk, Barefield subsequently withdrew as his attorney. (R. at 247).

The parties had been unable to agree among themselves on a selling price for the property. At a hearing on this matter on December 13, 2006, the Chancellor decided that a commissioner for the sale of the property would be appointed and appointed attorney Chris Howdeshell. The lower court further decided that the property would be appraised and that Howdeshell would select and appoint the

appraiser. (Transcript of Proceedings of December 13, 2006, page 17 - 19). On February 12, 2007, the lower court entered its order that the property be appraised and that the appraisal would proceed and that the parties would have 14 days – not 45 days as directed by the will– from the conclusion of the appraisal to make an offer of purchase for not less than the appraised value. Otherwise the property was to be sold on the courthouse steps. (R.E. at 4, R. at 240 - 244).

As ordered, attorney Howdeshell obtained an appraisal on the property from Stan Lightsey, who appraised the property at \$80,000. The appraisal was filed with the lower court and on February 12, 2007, the lower court entered an order giving the parties 14 days from the receipt of the appraisal to make offers to purchase the property. (R.E. at 4). The February 12, 2007, order was sent to Frank Polk's attorney, Michael Barefield, but not to Frank Polk personally. Attorney Barefield did not make Frank Polk aware of the February 12, 2007, order. (Transcript of Proceedings of June 4, 2007, page 21). Attorney Barefield subsequently withdrew as Frank Polk's attorney. (R.E. at 5; R at 247-249). Attorney Barefield admitted in open court that through inadvertence, his office had not forwarded the order to Mr. Polk. (R.E. at 6; R. at 309-315) (Transcript of proceedings of August 23, 2007, pages 33 - 35; 39). By happenstance, Mr. Polk discovered the existence of the February 12, 2007, through an examination of the court file. As a result of his lack of knowledge of the February

12, 2007, order, Frank Polk had not made a bid for the purchase of the property. Neither of the plaintiffs herein made any bid for the purchase of the property. Since there was no bid for the property among the Polks' children or their estates within the 14 day time limit set by the court, the lower court ordered the property sold at the courthouse steps.

Frank A. Polk, having learned of the lower court's orders, appeared before the court on the day before the courthouse sale and attempted to tender the appraisal price plus \$10 in order to purchase the property. (Transcript of Proceedings of August 23, 2007, pages 33 - 35). The court denied his motion and the courthouse sale proceed resulting in the sale of the property. (Transcript of Proceedings of August 23, 2007, page 40).

The property was sold at the courthouse steps to the highest bidder. Subsequently, the buyer gave notice that he could not raise the necessary funds for the purchase. The property was then offered to the second highest bidder, but before the transaction could close, this appeal was taken and by agreement of the parties, the sale was stayed.

Summary of the Argument

Due process requires that a party to be affected by a court's order be given reasonable notice of that order so that he may act to protect his interests. Here,

through inadvertence, Frank Polk did not receive any notice of the February 12, 2007, order and was unable to bid for the property as he was prepared to do.

Moreover, the lower court did not have the necessary parties before it to render an effective judgment. The Douglas estate owned an interest in the property but was not substituted as a party upon the death of Martha Douglas. The lower court's order of sale was therefore a nullity, and the lower court abused its discretion in refusing to allow Frank Polk to purchase the property at a price above appraised value.

Argument

1. Standard of Review

The material facts presented by this appeal from the Chancellor's ruling are not disputed. The only issues presented to the Court are issues of law which this Court reviews *de novo*. *Planters Bank & Trust Co. v. Sklar*, 555 So. 2d 1024 (Miss. 1990); *Countrywide Home Loans, Inc. v. Parker*, 975 So. 2d 233 (Miss. 2008). The trial court's findings are reviewed under the manifest error / abuse of discretion test. *Cassell v. Cassell*, 970 So. 2d 267 (Miss. App. 2007).

2. Application of the Law to the Facts

The trial court erred in ordering the property sold on the courthouse steps without the Appellant/Defendant, Frank Polk, having received notice the February 12, 2007, order, and in the face of his offer to pay full appraisal price plus ten dollars.

The manifest intent of the will of E.C. Polk and Ruth L. Polk was that their home place remain in their family and that their children be given every opportunity to purchase it before being sold to a third party. It has long been the law in this state that, in the construction of a will and the administration of an estate, that the Testator's intent is controlling. *May v. Hunt*, 404 So.2d 1373, 1376 (Miss.1981). The Chancellor abused his discretion in ignoring the plain intent of the will.

Frank Polk, the Polks' son, had every intention of purchasing the property and had secured the financial backing to make the purchase through a letter of credit from The Peoples Bank of Biloxi, Mississippi. (R.E. at 7; R. at 0070). By a series of unfortunate circumstances, the Appellant, Frank Polk did not receive notice of his right to bid for the property at the private sale. The property, therefore, was ordered sold on the courthouse steps. The lower court, *sua sponte*, and without any explanation in the record, shortened the notice period from 45 days as directed by the will, to 14 days which also constituted an abuse of discretion.

Frank Polk had done everything the law requires of him in order to protect his rights, going so far as to examine the clerk's file to keep himself apprised of the lower court's proceedings. Allowing Frank Polk to purchase the property at an above-appraisal price where the other two siblings' estates had not bid on the property would not have prejudiced the rights of any party. This is especially true since the property

had not yet gone to sale. The trial court's refusal to permit him to purchase the property was manifest error and an abuse of the court's discretion.

In the case of *Estate of Ezell vs Glenda Joyce Thomas, Administratrix*, 883 So. 2d 1173 (Miss. 2004) this Court held:

Due process also demands notice be given in such a case. This Court has recognized this principle in *King* where it stated that Mississippi due process law requires notice or diligent efforts to secure actual notice be given. 579 So. 2d at 1253-54 (relying on *Caldwell v. Caldwell*, 533 So. 2d 413 (Miss. 1988). In both *King* and *Caldwell*, this Court looked to the United States Supreme Court for authority on the matter in its holding that the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution requires notice. *Tulsa Professional Collection Services*, *Inc. v. Pope*, 485 U.S. 478, 99 L.Ed.2d 565 (1988). *Estate of Ezell* at 1179.

No prejudice would have resulted to anyone had the lower court, upon learning of Frank Polk's failure to receive notice, extended the time which the siblings had to bid on the property before the courthouse sale actually occurred. Likewise, no prejudice would result if the sale were set aside and the siblings again allowed to bid on the property among themselves.

The lower court further erred by proceeding in this matter without requiring the joinder of the Estate of Martha Douglas in these proceedings. Since the Douglas estate held an interest in the property and was not a party to the partition action, any such

sale ordered by the lower court would have been a nullity.

The Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 19, provides as follows:

- (a) Persons to Be Joined if Feasible. A person who is subject to the jurisdiction of the court shall be joined as a party in the action if: (1) in his absence complete relief cannot be accorded among those already parties, or
- (2) he claims an interest relating to the subject of the action and is so situated that the disposition of the action in his absence may (i) as a practical matter impair or impede his ability to protect that interest or (ii) leave any of the persons already parties subject to a substantial risk of incurring double, multiple, or otherwise inconsistent obligations by reason of his claimed interest.

If he has not been so joined, the court shall order that he be made a party. If he should join as a plaintiff but refuses to do so, he may be made a defendant or, in a proper case, an involuntary plaintiff.

Miss. R. Civ. P. 19(a).

The Douglas estate was being probated in Forrest County, Mississippi, the identical venue of the lower court cause of action. There can be little doubt that a joinder of the estate would have been feasible. Since title to the property was still vested in the Douglas estate, Rule 19 (a)'s provisions are directly on point: No valid title could be conveyed since the owner of record of the subject property was in no way before the court. Secondly, as record owner of the property that was being disputed among the parties, the disposition of the action in its absence may have

impaired the estate's ability to protect that interest. The lower court could not, consistent with due process, in any way modify the rights of the estate in said property without first making it a party to the action.

In a case involving similar issues concerning the lower court's failure to join the state in a 16th Section land dispute, the Mississippi Supreme held:

This Court has held that failure to join interested parties in a real estate dispute under M.R.C.P. 19(a) justifies reversal and remand as a violation of fundamental due process. [...] As a general rule, all persons who are materially interest in the event or subject matter, without whom no effective judgment or decree can be rendered, should be made parties, in a suit to quiet title. *Board of Education of Calhoun County, Mississippi*, 853 So. 2d 1159 (Miss. 2003), citing *Aldridge v. Aldridge*, 527 So. 2d 96, 98 (Miss. 1988) and *Magnolia Textiles, Inc. v. Gillis*, 206 Miss. 797, 807; 41 So. 2d 6, 8 (1949).

Conclusion

The lower court did not comply with fundamental notions of due process and abused its discretion by declining to extend the time for Frank Polk to comply with the Court's order when he had not received notice of the filing of the appraisal. The lower court further erred when it set a 14 day notice provision for the sale of the property when the will of E.C. Polk directed that a 45 day notice period be given.

Finally the lower court erred in failing the join the estate of Martha Douglas as

a party to this action. As such, the lower court would have been unable to enter an effective judgment or decree with respect to the property absent the estate's involvement in the litigation.

This Court should reverse the judgment of the trial court and remand the matter with instructions to set aside the courthouse sale of August 24, 2007, and to provide the parties with the requisite period of notice as provided by the will. Only then if there is no purchase of the property by the parties should the lower court order another sale of the property on the courthouse steps.