#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

#### FRANK A. POLK

VERSUS

#### APPELLANT

CAUSE NO. 2007-CA-01647

A. J. JONES and MARTHA DOUGLAS

APPELLEE

## ON APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF FORREST COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

CIVIL ACTION NO. 05-0250-GN-W

#### **BRIEF OF APPELLEES**

#### **ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED**

R. CHRISTOPHER WOOD, ESQ. DUKES, DUKES & WOOD STATE BAR NO. DUKES, DUKES & WOOD POST OFFICE BOX 2055 HATTIESBURG, MS 39403 (601-544-1421); FAX: (601) 544-4425

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

#### FRANK A. POLK

VERSUS

APPELLANT

APPELLEE

CAUSE NO. 2007-CA-01647

#### A. J. JONES and MARTHA DOUGLAS

#### **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

The mother of the Appellant, Ruth L. Polk, departed this life July 26, 1973; the father of the Appellant, E. C. Polk, departed this life December 7, 1987. By Decree Vesting Title to Real Properties and Providing for Disposition of Personal Properties, filed February 12, 1992 in the Chancery Court of Forrest County In Matter of the Estate of Ruth L. Polk, Deceased, Cause No. 30,643, Frank Abner Polk, Martha Louise Douglas, and Ruth Jacqueline Jones<sup>1</sup> were vested with title as joint tenants in common to 730 River Avenue, the parcel of real property which is the subject of this Appeal. Said Decree allowed the beneficiaries 30 days from January 23, 1992 to reach agreement regarding the division of the personal property contained within the property, after which a sale of the subject personal property was to be ordered. This order was amended one year later by Order filed February 23, 1993 in the Chancery Court of Forrest County In Matter of the Estate of Ruth L. Polk, Deceased, Cause No. 30,643 consolidated with In Matter of the Last Will and Testament and Codicils of E. C. Polk, Deceased, Cause No. P-756, which rescinded the forced sale of the personal property. Sixteen (16) years have passed since the initial order, and there has been no mutual agreement as to the division or sale of the personal property.

After many years of disagreement among the legatees of E. C. Polk, the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The interests of Ruth Jacqueline Jones are now represented by A. J. Jones, her surviving spouse and the Executor of her Last Will and Testament.

house at 730 River Avenue remains uninhabited to this day, and at one point was condemned by the City of Hattiesburg. On May 3, 2005, A. J. Jones and Martha Douglas, Appellees herein, filed their Complaint for Partition of Real Property and Sale of Personal Property, which was amended on September 6, 2002 [RE 176], from which this appeal rises. Appellant, Frank Abner Polk, was so adroit at avoiding service of process of the original Complaint that the Court, by Order dated September 5, 2006 [RE 1(c)], directed that the Sheriff of Forrest County personally serve Mr. Polk at his residence. It is a fundamental maxim of Chancery practice that one who comes into equity must come with clean hands, which only highlights the irony of Frank Polk complaining to the Supreme Court of Mississippi of lack of notice.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

#### Appellant's Issue I.

Whether the trial court erred in ordering the subject property sold on the courthouse steps without the Appellant having actual notice of his earlier right to bid on the property.

The Court is bound by the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure Rule 5(b) to serve pleadings upon counsel of record. The Order of February 12, 2007 [RE 240] was served upon Frank Polk's attorney of record. Mr. Polk's attorney formally withdrew as counsel on March 28, 2007. Henceforth, all pleadings and correspondence were mailed directly to Mr. Polk. After public notice, the property was sold on August 24, 2008. It was not until September 14, 2007, that Mr. Polk retained counsel to represent his interests herein.

**Appellant's Issue II.** 

# Whether the trial court erred in failing to join indispensable necessary parties?

Martha Douglas was a party to both the Complaint for Partition and the Amended Complaint. During the spring of 2007, Mrs. Douglas died. Mrs. Douglas had given her consent and approval of the partition prior to her death by filing the Complaint. The substitution of whomever is successor in title to the interest of Martha Douglas in 730 River Avenue will be required in order to effect the sale, but had no bearing on the Court's order to proceed with the public sale. To date, no estate has been opened.

The substitution of the successor in interest can be accomplished by either the Plaintiff or Defendant filing a suggestion of death pursuant to M.R.C.P. Rule 25, or Miss. Code Ann. § 91-7-237, *Party dying during lawsuit*, provides that the Court may serve a summons upon the executor or administrator of an estate, who shall become a party to the suit.

#### Appellant's Issue II.

Where the lawful beneficiary under the will stood ready, willing

# and able to purchase the property at a price above the appraisal, was the trial court's order of sale on the courthouse steps an abuse of discretion?

Frank Polk has had over twenty (20) years to come to an agreement with the other beneficiaries of the will regarding the family homestead. During that time, the value of the house and property have daily decreased and deteriorated such that the property was condemned by the City of Hattiesburg. The Chancellor in the lower court heard testimony on several occasions from Frank Abner Polk, who has at times appeared pro se. When the Chancellor ordered the sale of the property to proceed after hearing directly from Mr. Polk, it was not an abuse of discretion or manifest error, but was the discretion of the Court to take whatever action is necessary to bring an action to conclusion.

#### ARGUMENT

### 1. Standard of Review

The standard of review for property partition cases is whether this Court finds manifest error in the decision of the chancellor, only then will this Court reverse the findings of the chancellor. *Robberson v. Burton*, 790 So.2d 226(¶9) (Miss.Ct.App.2001) (citing *Dunn v. BL Dev. Corp.*, 747 So.2d 284, 285(¶8) (Miss.Ct.App.1999). *In re Last Will and Testament of Lynn* 878 So.2d 1052, 1055 (¶11) (Miss.App. 2004)

#### 2. Application of Law

The case law cited in Frank Abner Polk's Brief, Estate of Thomas v.

*Thomas*, 883 So.2d 1173, at ¶22, 1179 (Miss.2004) (incorrectly cited as *Estate of Ezell v. Glenda Joyce Thomas, Administratrix*) and upon which Appellant relies regarding notice to Frank Polk of the Order issued February 12, 2007 by the lower Court, [RE 240], pertains to an administratrix's notice of the adjudication of the decedent's estate to the known and reasonably ascertainable illegitimate children of decedent, and has no application to this matter.

M.R.C.P. Rule 5(b) is the applicable rule of Court in this instance.

M.R.C.P. Rule 5(b) states as follows:

"Service: How Made. Whenever under these rules service is required or permitted to be made upon a party who is represented by an attorney of record in the proceedings, the service shall be made upon such attorney unless service upon party himself is ordered by the court. Service upon the attorney or upon a party shall be made by delivering a copy to him; or by transmitting it to him by electronic means; or by mailing it to him at his last known address, or if no address is known, by leaving it with the clerk of the court, or by transmitting it to the clerk by electronic means."

On February 12, 2007, Frank Abner Polk was represented by counsel. The lower Court provided Mr. Polk's counsel with a copy of the Order. Service was complete. The Order allowing withdrawal of record of Mr. Polk's counsel was not filed with the Court until March 28, 2007. [RE 247] See *McClain v. White* 738 So.2d 306, 308 (Miss. App., 1999), in which the Court held:

"Attorney Reed acted in his capacity as counsel for Mr. McClain by filing the complaint and the answer to the counterclaim. However, neither a motion requesting his formal withdrawal as counsel nor a court order permitting withdrawal were present in the record. The circuit court and Attorney Parlin were therefore obligated under M.R.C.P. 5(b) to serve all motions and notices upon Mr. McClain's attorney of record."

The Chancellor in the lower court heard testimony on several occasions from Frank Abner Polk, who has at times appeared pro se. After hearing various motions filed by Mr. Polk and his former attorney, the Court ordered ". . . the sale of real property ordered by this Honorable Court shall proceed as noticed" by Order dated August 23, 2007. [RE 318] When the Chancellor ordered the sale of the property to proceed after hearing directly from Mr. Polk, it was not an abuse of discretion or manifest error, but was the discretion of the Chancery Court to take whatever action is necessary to bring an action to conclusion.

As stated in Standard Lumber & Mfg. Co. v. Deposit Guaranty Bank & Trust Co. 152 So. 639, 641 (Miss. 1934):

"The statutes invest the chancellor with discretion as to confirming sales of land, and we cannot disturb a finding of fact of the chancellor, unless we could say, and point out with certainty, that it was manifestly wrong under the controlling fixed decisions of this court."

Frank Abner Polk argues that failure to join the State of Mississippi in a 16<sup>th</sup> Section land dispute should apply to the case at hand. The fact that the Estate of Martha Douglas has yet to become a party to the proceeding is irrelevant in light of the fact that the decedent, Martha Douglas, was a party to the original and amended Complaint to Partition before her demise, and was, in fact, an originator of the partition proceeding. When a party to a lawsuit dies, M.R.C.P. Rule 25, Substitution of Parties, which states as follows, applies:

(a) Death.

(1) If a party dies and the claim is not thereby extinguished, the court shall, upon motion, order substitution of the proper parties. The motion for substitution may be made by any party or by the successors or representatives of the deceased party and, together with the notice of hearing, shall be served on the parties as provided in Rule 5 and upon persons not parties in the manner provided in Rule 4 for the service of summons. The action shall be dismissed without prejudice as to the deceased party if the motion for substitution is not made within ninety days after the death is suggested upon the record by service of a statement of the fact of the death as herein provided for the service of the motion.

Further, Miss. Code Ann. § 91-7-237 states as follows:

"When either of the parties to any personal action shall die before final judgment, the executor or administrator of such deceased party may prosecute or defend such action, and the court shall render judgment for or against the executor or administrator. If such executor or administrator, having been duly served with a scire facias or summons five days before the meeting of the court, shall neglect or refuse to prosecute or defend the suit, the court may render judgment in the same manner as if such executor or administrator had voluntarily made himself a party to the suit. The executor or administrator who shall become a party shall be entitled to a continuance of the cause until the next term of the court."

The substitution of whomever is successor in title to Martha Douglas will

be required in order to effect the sale of 730 River Avenue, and will most certainly

be accomplished before any Warranty Deed is issued to the purchaser.

# CONCLUSION

The lower Court fully complied with the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure, statutory law, and precedent case law. The decision of the Chancery Court should be affirmed.